IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI DOCKET NO. 2010-CA-004000

WILBUR HAROLD WILLIAMSON, SR.

DEFENDANT/COUNTER-

PLAINTIFF

VERSUS

MARY JEAN (WADDELL) WILLIAMSON

PLAINTIFF/COUNTER-

DEFENDANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF TATE COUNTY MISSISSIPPI DOCKET NO.: 09-2-52-(VC)

BRIEF OF APPELLANT DEFENDANT/COUNTER-PLAINTIFF WILBUR HAROLD WILLIAMSON, SR.

Bobby Taylor Vance, J. D

Attorney-at-Law 123 Van Voris Street

Post Office Box 307

Batesville, MS 38606-0307

Telephone/Facsimile: 662-563-0403

MSBAR NO.

TNBAR NO.:

Attorney For Defendant

Counter-Plaintiff-Appellant

Honorable John L. Bailey

Attorney-at-law

635 Highway 6 East, Suite C

Post Office Drawer 568

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ABUSED DISCRETION AND OR APPLIED AN ERRONEOUS LEGAL STANDARD AND COMMITTEDMANIFEST ERROR IN THE DIVISION OF MARITAL ESTATE AND AWARDS OF ALIMONY
- II. WHETHER THE CHANCELLOR ABUSED DISCRETION AND COMMITTED MANIFEST ERROR IN FINDING APPELLANT IN CONTEMPT OF COURT AND IN AWARDING ATTORNEYS FEES

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 4, 2009, Mary Jean (Waddell) Williamson filed an Original Bill of Complaint for Divorce, Etc. and Temporary Relief in the Chancery Court of Tate County, Mississippi alleging as ground for divorce habitual cruel and inhumane treatment and the alternative ground of irreconcilable differences. On March 10, 2009 Wilber Harold Williamson, Sr. filed his Answer to Complaint for Divorce and Counter-Claim alleging habitual cruel and inhumane treatment and the alternative ground of irreconcilable differences. On March 31, 2009 Mary Jean (Waddell) Williamson filed Answer to Counter-Claim. [RE 2, 3, and 4] The hearing that consisted of contempt of a temporary order and the hearing on the merits was heard on January 13, 2010. On January 13, 2010, the Parties filed a stipulation and consent to divorce on the ground of irreconcilable differences. The trial court did not bifurcate the hearing on the contempt action and the testimony on the division of the marital estate and need for alimony [Vol. 3, P. 4] The Decree of Divorce was entered February 9, 2010. [RE 9, 13]

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At the time of the divorce Wilbur Harold Williamson was sixty-two years old and Mary Jean Waddell Williamson was sixty years old. They had been married forty-two years. [Vol. 3,

P. 45] The Parties built the marital home and had lived there for only seven or eight years. [Vol. 3, P. 58, Vol. 4, P. 92] The children of the Parties are adults but the son, daughter, daughter's spouse and two grandchildren live with the Parties. [Vol. 3, P. 76] At the time of the hearing Mary Jean (Waddell) Williamson and Wilbur Williamson were occupying the marital residence.

Initially, the Parties also agreed to a division of their personal property as follows: Wilbur Harold Williamson received the bed and mattress from the room in which he stays in the marital home, the desk in that room, as well as the armoire, the big screen TV, his clothing and personal effects, the weed eater, the chain saw; the tools and tool box, yard work tools, his shotgun, utility trailer. They will divide and copy the photos, the family photos, throughout the years and equally divide the cost of any copying that may have to be done. Mary Jean (Waddell) Williamson received the following: chest of drawers and smaller TV in the room where Mr. Williamson stayed, and all other personal property in the house. The contents in the house were insured for \$40,000.00 [Vol. 3, Pp. 8, 9; Vol. 4, P. 140] The Court accepted this agreement. Ultimately, during trial, the Parties agreed that each would receive one of the two sound systems and DVD players. [Vol. 3, Pp. 51-54]

Property that was not a part of an agreement consisted of: the marital home at 1145 Golden Pond Circle, Coldwater, Mississippi, the automobiles of the parties, the Union National/Wells Fargo 401-K of Wilbur Harold Williamson with a balance of \$24,041.00 and Harrah's savings of \$1,500.00 [Vol. 3, P. 33, 41-45], the First Tennessee Retirement/Sycamore Bank account at \$300.00; the 401K Account of Mary Jean (Waddell) Williamson worth approximately \$19,000.00 [Vol.3, Pp. 61- 63], cash belonging to Mary Jean (Waddell) Williamson in a safety deposit box, [Vol. 4 P. 92] The First Tennessee Retirement Account should have been reduced to present day value in considering the equitable distribution of the

marital estate The mortgage on the marital home was approximately \$160,000.00. [Vol. 4, P. 91] Each of the Parties had taken money from or had a loan against their 401 K. Wilbur had taken approximately \$10,000.00 from his and Mary had taken \$25,000.00 from hers. [Vol. 1, P.100] Mary testified she used the \$20,000.00 (\$5,000.00 was early withdrawal fee) to pay off her van in the amount of \$12,000.00; paid Friedman for a jewelry bill and then when the van was totaled to buy another car. Wilbur testified that he used his \$8,000.00 (\$2,000.00 was early withdrawal fee) to obtain an attorney in these divorce proceedings.

Wilbur Harold Williamson, an insurance salesman, whose income at the time of the hearing was averaging \$ 4,527.92 a month. He also received \$299.70 each month from State Street AIG Pension. [Vol. 3, P. 17] Mr. Williamson testified he worked five days a week. He also testified that in 2009 his gross income was \$58,000.00 which included his insurance commissions and pension. [Vol. 1, Pp.17, 18, 20] His 401K had a loan against it that was payroll deducted. Another deduction was for money he had taken out of the 401 K. Mr. Williamson testified that approximately \$4,000.00 or \$4,500.00 was still owed the 401K. Mr. Williamson also testified he withdrew \$10,000.00 from Harrah's retirement in order to obtain a lawyer to represent him in the divorce. He only received \$8,000.00 since \$2,000.00 was withdrawal penalty. [Vol. 1, Pp.21, 23] He also testified that he was refunded \$1188.00 of the attorney fee to pay "that note" [house] in September. Mr. Williamson had expenses on the marital home, business expenses in his insurance business, and his living expenses set forth in the 8.05 filed of record. [RE 19]

Mary Jean Waddell was working and making \$ 27,000.00 or \$28,000.00 a year, substantially the same as she made when she was with First Tennessee. She also had her

retirement account with First Tennessee that she had frozen until age 65. [Vol. 1, P.62] In addition she had \$19,000.00 remaining in her 401 K at the time of the hearing. [Vol. 1, P. 33] Ms. Williamson had two bank accounts, a joint account with Mr. Williamson and a personal account. Mr. Williamson's entire check went into this joint account. Ms. Williamson also maintained a personal account. She deposited her money in this account, but sometimes put money into the joint account. [Vol. 1, P. 86] She also put money in her safety deposit box that she failed to disclose on her 8.05. She had been saving this money for approximately ten (10) years so she could file for a divorce. [Vol. 3, Pp. 81-84] [Vol. 4, Pp. 92, 93] The Financial Declarations of the parties were submitted to the Court by agreement. Vol. 1, Pp.14, 15] [RE 18, 19]

The Temporary Order: Prior to the hearing on the merits the Court entered a Temporary Order on April 7, 2009, in which both Parties were to remain in the marital home; continue paying household bills as they have done in the past; Mary Jean Waddell Williamson was to pay the note on her vehicle, the light bill, cable bill, her credit card bills and both Parties purchase groceries. Wilbur Harold Williamson was to pay all other household bills, including the mortgage on the martial home including taxes and insurance, gas/propane for the marital home, his vehicle note, garbage pickup, pest control, automobile insurance for the parties, his cell phone bill, upkeep and maintenance on the marital home and any bills solely in this name. He was to continue to maintain Ms. Williamson on his dental insurance and provide vision insurance if available through his employer. The 401-K accounts were frozen until further orders of the Court. (Emphasis ours) This resulted in a QUDRO being placed on Mr. Williamson Accounts. Both Parties were enjoined from removing or dissipating funds from any account except in the ordinary course of business. Both Parties were enjoined from removing or dissipating any marital

assets. Defendant's [Mr. Williamson] account with Union National and the Plaintiff's through Sycamore Bank shall be frozen until further orders of the Court. Any other Parties accounts not addressed in this agreement are hereby frozen as well. [VOL I, Pp. 29 – 31][RE 15]

On September 29, 2009 Wilbur Harold Williamson filed his Motion to Modify Temporary Order and For Trial Setting together with his Notice of Motion for October 26, 2009 alleging a decrease in income and inability to pay the house payment and other household bills. The First Contempt: On December 16, 2009 Mary Jean (Waddell) filed Petition for Contempt alleging that Wilbur Harold Williamson was in contempt of the Temporary Order in failing to pay the mortgage payment on the marital home for two months, pay for groceries and seeking Attorneys Fees. Mr. Williamson alleged impossibility to pay. The Court had frozen his 401K and all other accounts until further order of the Court. The third party administrator of the different funds controlled if and when funds could be disbursed. These accounts remained frozen until the final Qualified Domestic Relations Order was approved by the third party administrators and filed by the Court on March 25, 2010. (Emphasis Ours) [RE 13] Therefore, the administrators did not construe the Court's order to allow any withdrawals whatsoever, whether this was the intention of the Court or not. In addition, in the Temporary Order there was no time frame in which Mr. Williamson was to pay any of the items attributed to him. Mr. Williamson avers he was not in contempt because there was no time frame in which Mr. Williamson was to pay. Mr. Williamson testified "the only way I can get the money is get it out of my 401-K." [Vol. 1, P. 33] Mr. Williamson was not in contempt of the temporary order in nonpayment of a share of the groceries for Ms. Williamson's household. The order did not

specify a sum he was to pay for groceries. Ms. Williamson testified that he had given her \$650.00 since the temporary order. [Vol. 3, P. 74]

This Petition for Contempt was heard in conjunction with the trial on the merits on January 13, 2010. The hearing on the Petition for Contempt and hearing on the merits were not bifurcated.

[RE 20]

The Findings and Opinion of the Court: The Court found Mr. Williamson in contempt for failing to abide by the Court's Temporary Order. The Court found, "The issues that I want him to take care of, immediately, the house is three months in arrears. I want that caught up, immediately. I mean, no more than twenty days. The Temporary Order is gone, so any freezes on your disposition of your property gone, because, today, I'm going to divide up your property...So, you are going to have to go to your 401-K, I guess, and get the money, Mr. Williamson....Twenty days is an upward limit, because I feel like it's going to take you some time to get the money out of your foreclosure [sic 401-K] (Emphasis Ours) Also, then Mrs. Williamson testified that, of the monies that I ordered you, Mr. Williamson, to pay, she has had to give to you, \$200.00 toward the house payment; \$449.00 to pay toward the gas in the house; \$610.00 she had to pay to buy eye glasses, when you are supposed to have vision insurance for her; and \$150.00 for the law service. You know, to get the lawn taken care of. That totals \$1,409.00 of monies that I ordered you to pay, Mr. Williamson, at the Temporary, that either, she paid Williamson a Judgment in that amount, and I am ordering you to pay that. [Vol. 4, P. 150]

The Court assessed fees of \$2,500.00 for the bringing the contempt action. "I am also assessing as attorney fees for her having to bring the Motion to Compel.".... And, if my math is correct, that totals \$4,824.81. And I want all of that to be paid to Mrs. Williamson within

thirty days. I understand you are going to have to get that money out of your 401-K (Emphasis Ours)...[Vol.4, Pp. 153, 154]

The Court found, "I am granting each of you an Irreconcilable Differences divorce." [Vol. 4, P.154]

The agreement of the Parties as to the division of real property was ratified. [Vol. 4, P. 155]

Then the court said, "Y'all didn't really talk about, or put on any proof about, your cars, but I understood from the testimony, that Mrs. Williamson has a vehicle. She is paying for her vehicle. Mr. Williamson has a vehicle. He is paying for his vehicle. And that will continue. Your will be awarded your vehicle, Mr. Williamson. You will be awarded yours, Mrs.

Williamson. Y'all will each be required to pay the debt on your own vehicle."...[Vol. 4, P.155]

The Count then found, "...The marital assets, as I understand what they are, are Mr.

Williamson's Harrah's 401-K account, and Mrs. Williamson's Retirement or 401-K account, and the home—the marital home." [Vol. 4, P.156]

The Court found neither Party "made any more of a dissipation of the assets than the other one has." [Vol. 4, P.159]

The Court found the total both Parties' 401-K accounts was \$45,538.07. stating "Well, as I said, I'm working on a fifty-fifty split....I am finding that your contributions are equal in value...and I feel like, an equitable thing to do will split things, half and half. ... So if I divide the total in half each one of you should end up with \$22,769.53 worth of the 401-K money....
[Vol. 4, P.160] 1

The Court continued, "So Mrs. Williamson, if you keep your \$19,000.00 401-K, and you,

¹ This figure is not take into account the amount the Court had already ordered Mr. Williamson to pay from his now portion of his 401K, thus the 50/50 split the Court intended was impossible.

get \$3,768.54 out of Mr. Williamson's 401-K, then that's going to make y'all even. ... So I suggest you do a QUADRO on his Wells Fargo Account, transferring \$3,768.54 worth of value out of your Wells Fargo Account to her...So, that's my Order to equalize the 401-K's." [Vol. 4, Pp. 161, 162]

The Court found "...each one of you is going to pay your own attorney fees." [Vol. 4, P. 162]

The Court found "...with regard to the 2009 tax return, I'm going to order that y'all file a join return, and that y'all equally divide the refund from that... I'm still trying to divide the things that y'all accumulated during your marriage, equally." [Vol. 4, P.163, 164]

The Court found "the Wife will be allowed to continue to live in the house." [Vol. 4, P. 164]

The Court ordered, "the house is to be sold and is to be placed on the market, immediately, and made ready to sell and when the house is sold the equity is to be split, equally, between the two of you." [Vol. 4, P.164]

The Court found, "the Parties are to split the costs of any minor things that need to be done to get the house ready for the market." [Vol. 4, P. 164]

The Court said, "if the house is not sold within twelve months, then y'all can bring it back to the Court and have the Court revisit this part of my Order, with regard to your living in the house and the house to be sold. [Vol. 4, Pp. 166, 167]

In determining alimony and future support the Court referred to "the income and expenses of the parties and found a \$31,000.00, gross, difference in your incomes... The health and earning capacities of the parties—both of you are still healthy, but both of your are approaching retirement....But the case law says, what I'm supposed to do is divide up your property. And, then, if there is still an inequity, then I can use alimony to even that out." [Vol. 4, Pp.169]

The Court found, "alimony is going to be appropriate." [Vol. 4, Pp. 170, 171] The Court said, "I have taken into consideration the needs of each party, with regard to your financial statements and your expenses, ... your needs...the obligations and assets of each party...the length of the marriage...the presence or absence of minor children in the home....the age of the parties and your proximity to retirement..the standard of living of the parties, both during the marriage and at the time of the support determination...the tax consequences of the spousal support order, ...any periodic alimony is going to be taxable to you, Mrs. Williamson. It's going to be a tax break to you, Mr. Williamson...Fault or misconduct—and I have heard the little bit of evidence about fault. That might weigh a little bit in my decision....Wasteful dissipation of assets by either party. I don't think, as I said earlier, that either one of you dissipated any assets.

[Vol. 4 P. 171- 174] If I took your incomes and tried to equalize your incomes, ...if I took \$818.47 from you, Mr. Williamson, and gave it to Mrs. Williamson, that would pretty much, equalize your net incomes each month." [Vol. 4, P.175]

The court found the debt on the marital home, \$1188.00 monthly, should be divided with Mr. Williamson paying to Mrs. Williamson \$594.00 every month until the house is sold. The Court found Mr. Williamson should pay an additional \$200.00 every month in alimony...that's going to equalize your incomes...[Vol. 4, P. 176]

The Court found that the month after the house is sold Mr. Williamson's alimony payment is going to increase to \$800.00 per month so that will equalize your incomes. [Vol. 4, P. 176]

The Court found the alimony to be periodic. [Vol. 4, P. 178]

The Court found each Party would receive one-half of the interest credit for income tax purposes ---- "for the months that y'all split the house payments." [Vol. 4, P. 178]

The Findings and Order Of the Court on Contempt: The Court found that Wilbur Harold Williamson was in contempt for failure to pay the mortgage on the marital home and failure to pay other bills he was ordered to pay under the Temporary Order including one half of the groceries. [Emphasis Ours] The Temporary Order did not order him to pay one-half of the groceries, he was to pay a share. Ms. Williamson testified he paid \$1100.00, \$650.00 of which was for groceries.][Vol. 3, P. 73] This Final Decree ordered him to pay these amounts and in addition to pay \$4,824.81 within thirty (30) days from January 13, 2010 or February 12, 2010, \$200.00 reimbursement to Ms. Williamson for a house payment, \$449.00 for a gas bill, \$610.00 for eyeglasses, \$150.00 for lawn service, \$2,500.00 in attorney's fees on the Motion for Contempt and \$915.81 for the filing of the Motion To Compel. The Court acknowledged Mr. Williamson would have to access the funds in his 401 K to comply with this order. (Emphasis Ours) [Opinion of the Court [Vol. 4, Pp. 150-154] [RE 20]

The Findings and Order of Equitable Division of the Marital Estate: Then the Court divided the "remaining assets, the 401K accounts and the marital home" as follows (Emphasis Ours): Mary Jean Waddell Williamson acquired most of the unencumbered personal property; however, the court did not assign a value to the property awarded to her. The Court did not assign a value to either of the automobiles even though Mr. Williamson testified that his auto a 2006 Corolla had over 200,000 miles on it and he used it to sell insurance and would soon have to have another vehicle. [Vol. 4, P. 128] Ms. Williamson was driving a new vehicle; [the Court awarded each their own vehicle and any debt thereon] [Vol. 4, P. 155] The Court did not assign a value to the occupancy and use of the marital residence. The Court did value the 401K accounts of the parties and divided these accounts fifty-fifty as a part of the equitable distribution of the marital estate. However, the Court used the value of Mr. Williamson's

accounts as of the date of the hearing and the value of Ms. Williamson's accounts as of the date of the filing for divorce. [RE 18, 19] The Court accomplished this fifty-fifty division by ordering Mr. Williamson to pay \$ 3769.54to Ms. Williamson out of his 401K. The court did not give Mr. Williamson credit for all amounts that were to be paid under its finding of contempt.

The Court found that the 401K accounts should be equally divided. To accomplish this division Defendant, Wilbur Harold Williamson was ordered to transfer \$3,769.54 from his 401 K by a Qualified Domestic Relations Order. [RE 13] The marital home was to be placed on the market immediately with Ms. Williamson to have sole use of the home until it is sold. The Court reserved unto either party the right to Petition the court regarding sale of the house. Mr. Williamson was ordered to pay \$594.00 per month toward the mortgage [Vol. 4, P.175].

The Court awarded Ms. Williamson periodic alimony in the amount of \$200.00. per month until the marital home is sold. Upon the sale of the home the periodic alimony paid shall be \$800,00. No consideration was given to the \$300.00 or more per month Ms. Williamson was to receive from her retirement account at First Tennessee. The Court did not address the fact that payments ordered for the arrearage on the house were to be deducted from Mr. Williamson's one-half of his 401 K nor the benefit Ms. Williamson receives from the use of the home until sold. [Vol. 1 P. 61, 64]

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