IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WILBUR HAROLD WILLIAMSON, SR.

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2010-CA-00400

MARY JEAN (WADDELL) WILLIAMSON

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE MARY JEAN (WADDELL) WILLIAMSON

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF TATE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Joy Wolfe Graves, MB #PERRY, WINFIELD & WOLFE, P.A. 224 East Main Street
Post Office Box 80281
Starkville, Mississippi 39759
Telephone: (662) 323-3984
Telecopier: (662) 323-3920

Malenda Harris Meacham, MB
LAW OFFICES OF MEACHAM AND JACKSON
Post Office Box 566
Hernando, Mississippi 38632-0566
Telephone: (662) 429-9339
Telecopier: (662) 429-3239

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Chancellor's Decree should be affirmed in all respects because Will has failed to demonstrate that any of the decisions about which he complains were the result of the application of an improper legal standard, were manifest error, clearly erroneous or an abuse of discretion.

The Decree is supported by the testimony and evidence presented at the trial of this matter and should not be disturbed on appeal.

The Chancellor applied the correct legal standard to both her division of the marital estate and the award of periodic alimony. See Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So.2d 921 (Miss. 1994),

Armstrong v. Armstrong, 618 So.2d 1278 (Miss. 1993). Moreover, the Chancellor's findings of fact are support by evidence presented at trial; therefore, they are not clearly erroneous, manifestly in error or an abuse of discretion and should be affirmed on appeal. Kennedy v.

Kennedy, 650 So.2d 1362 (Miss. 1995).

The question of whether the Chancellor correctly found Will in contempt of the Decree and awarded Mary her attorney's fees by Order filed July 19, 2010 is not properly before this Court on this appeal, because it was not identified in the Notice of Appeal. See, e.g., In the Matter of the Appointment of a Conservator of Gladys Lucille Eldridge, 813 So.2d 753, 755 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001). To the extent Will complains about the finding of contempt and corresponding award of attorney's fees that was addressed during the trial of this matter, the Chancellor properly concluded that Will was in contempt of the Temporary Agreed Order and acted within her discretion in awarding such fees. Yarner, 666 So.2d 493, 498 (Miss. 1995). Her findings should not be overruled.

For all of these reasons, and as set forth more fully below, Will has failed to bear his burden of demonstrating that the Chancellor's opinion and Decree should be reversed.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"This Court will not overturn the decision of a chancellor in domestic cases when those findings are supported by substantial evidence unless the chancellor abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, or applied an erroneous legal standard." Kennedy, 650 So.2d at 1366; see also Brady v. Brady, 14 So. 3d 823, 826 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009), Graham v. Graham, 767 So. 2d 277, 280 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000).

Therefore, the Appellant in this matter has a heavy burden on appeal to demonstrate that the Chancellor applied an erroneous legal standard, committed manifest error or otherwise abused her discretion in dividing the marital estate, awarding periodic alimony or holding the appellant in contempt and awarding attorney's fees. For the reasons contained in this brief, as supported by the record from the trial court, he has failed to satisfy that burden, and the Chancellor's ruling should be affirmed in all respects.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Chancellor Did Not Commit Reversible Error in Dividing the Marital Estate.

The Chancellor found that the parties had agreed to the division of the marital property with the exception of their automobiles, 401k accounts and the marital home. (T.155-56, WHWRE Tab 20). This finding is supported by the evidence presented at trial. In fact, Will testified that there were no assets other than the 401k accounts, the house and the automobiles. (T. 44-45).

The Chancellor first noted that each party would maintain ownership and possession of his/her automobile and be responsible for any debts associated with that automobile. (T. 155). Then, in determining how the remaining assets – the 401k accounts and the marital home – should be divided, the Chancellor made verbal findings of fact in which she announced that she was dividing the marital estate 50-50. (T. 158-61). In reaching that conclusion, the Chancellor found that the parties had contributed equally to the accumulation of the assets (T. 158, 160-61), that neither party had "made any more of a dissipation of the assets than the other" party (T. 159), and that neither party had any significant non-marital assets (T. 159). These findings are consistent with the requirements of Ferguson, which sets forth the factors to be considered in the division of marital assets. Therefore, the Chancellor did not apply an incorrect legal standard in

The Court in its ruling from the bench noted that there had been no proof regarding the value of the automobiles or any debts associated with the automobiles. The record bears this out, as there is no testimony or related to the value of either vehicle, although the parties did testify regarding the existence of the vehicles and mentioned loan payments on the vehicles. The only evidence of the value of the vehicles is from the parties' 8.05 disclosures. Will indicated that his vehicle was valued at \$6,500 and had a loan in that same amount. (WHWRE Tab 19). Will's 8.05 disclosure does not mention Mary's automobile. (WHWRE Tab 19). Mary's 8.05 disclosure indicates that her vehicle is worth approximately \$8,000 and that there is a loan against the vehicle for approximately \$7,000. (WHWRE Tab 18). Mary's 8.05 disclosure does not contain any information about Will's car other than the make and model. (WHWRE Tab 18). When considering that no other evidence regarding the value of the vehicles was introduced, it is clear that the Chancellor did not abuse her discretion in awarding each party his/her own car, as neither car had significant equity and the values were substantially similar.

reaching her decision. See, e.g., Sproles v. Sproles, 782 So.2d 742, 748 (Miss. 2001) (holding that not all Ferguson factors need to be addressed in every case).

Likewise, the Chancellor was not clearly erroneous nor did she commit manifest error or abuse her discretion in her division of the marital property. The Chancellor took the evidence of the value of the 401k accounts as presented at trial in calculating the equitable division. (T. 156-58). It was not an abuse of discretion to use this information, particularly where no other evidence was available to the Court. Using the information found in the record, the Chancellor ordered that Will transfer a portion of his 401k account to Mary in order to accomplish an equitable division of this portion of the marital estate. (T. 162; R. 89; WHWRE Tab 9). The Chancellor further ordered that the marital home be sold and the equity equally divided between the parties. (T. 164-68). These provisions resulted in the equitable division of the marital assets and the Chancellor's ruling should not be disturbed.

On appeal, Will complains that the Chancellor did not consider the value of the personal property divided by the parties pursuant to their agreement. According to the 8.05 disclosures provided by the parties, the total value of the personal property that was divided was between \$2,000 (Will's 8.05) and \$4,400 (Mary's 8.05). (WHWRE Tab 18, 19). The parties did not produce any evidence regarding the value of the specific items each received; therefore, it was not manifest error for the Chancellor to consider the division to be equitable. See Bell, Deborah H., Bell on Mississippi Family Law (2005) § 6.07[2] (noting that "[a]n estimate of value may be appropriate if the parties fail to present evidence of value"); see also Wilson v. Wilson, 811 So. 2d 342, 346 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) (stating that items of negligible value need not have actual value assigned to them).

Will also asserts on appeal that incorrect values were assigned to the 401k accounts; however, he presented no evidence and raised no objection to this issue at the trial. The values

used were those presented to the Chancellor for consideration. The date of the valuations were reasonably related to the filing of the divorce complaint and the trial and therefore their use was not an abuse of discretion and should not be overturned – particularly where, as here, the appellant has presented no evidence of the value he contends should have been utilized. See, e.g., Hensarling v. Hensarling, 824 So.2d 583, 591 (Miss. 2002) (holding that date of valuation is matter within Chancellor's discretion).

Will also complains that he should have been allowed to pay the amounts he was ordered to pay pursuant to the Temporary Order – and apparently the attorney's fees he was ordered to pay for his failure to comply with that order – from his 401k accounts before those accounts were divided. The effect of such an interpretation would be to penalize Mary for paying the amounts she was ordered to pay under the Temporary Agreed Order from other funds while allowing Will to deplete his 401k account and thereby reduce the amount available to Mary. Additionally, such an application of payments would have the practical effect of charging Mary with a portion of the payments and penalties assessed to Will. This outcome is not equitable – Will failed to comply with the Chancellor's orders and he should be held responsible for that failure. This allegation does not demonstrate reversible error on the part of the Chancellor.

The findings and ruling of the Chancellor are supported by ample evidence produced at trial, and Will on appeal has produced no evidence of manifest error or abuse of discretion in connection with the division of the marital estate. Therefore, the ruling of the Chancellor should be affirmed, as the division was equitable and within the discretion of the court.

B. The Chancellor Did Not Commit Reversible Error in Awarding Mary Alimony.

After dividing the marital estate, the Chancellor turned to the question of alimony.

(T.168). The Chancellor specifically found that "what I'm supposed to do is divide up your property. And, then, if there is still an[] inequity, then I can use alimony to even that out. . . I

think this is a case that alimony is going to be appropriate." (T. 169-70). This is the proper statement of the Chancellor's role in determining whether alimony should be awarded. See, e.g., Johnson v. Johnson, 650 So.2d 1281, 1287 (Miss. 1994). The Chancellor then went on to consider the factors set forth in Armstrong and awarded Mary \$800 per month in periodic alimony. Initially this amount was to be allocated \$594 to the payment of the marital home mortgage (1/2 of the monthly payment) and \$200 in alimony payable to Mary. (T. 175.76). After the sale of the marital home, the amount would be \$800 per month in periodic alimony. (T.175.76).

The Chancellor specifically discussed the following factors in her ruling determining the amount of the alimony award: (1) the health and earning capacity of the parties, (2) the needs of the party as evidenced by financial statements and expenses, (3) the obligations and assets of each party, (4) the length of the marriage, (5) the absence of minor children in the home for which the parties were responsible, (6) the age of the parties, (7) the standard of living of the parties (during the marriage and at the time of the trial), (8) the tax consequences of the award, (9) the fault or misconduct of the parties during the marriage, and (10) the wasteful dissipation of assets by a party. (T. 168-74). Thus, the Chancellor correctly applied the <u>Armstrong</u> factors, and her decision cannot be reversed based upon the application of an incorrect legal standard.

After considering the <u>Armstrong</u> factors, the Chancellor determined that the disparity in the parties' financial conditions should be corrected by an award of permanent alimony.

Contrary to Will's assertions on appeal, the Chancellor did not err in seeking to equalize the parties' financial disparity. <u>See</u>, Bell, <u>supra</u> at § 9.06[3][a] (noting that in marriages over twenty years alimony awards have been upheld in amounts up to 100% of the financial disparity between the parties). In the present case, Will's income far exceeded Mary's income, (T. 20, 61,

WHWRE Tab 18, 19). Furthermore, because this was a marriage of over 40 years, an award of permanent alimony was appropriate. See, Bell, supra, §9.06.

The Chancellor properly considered the <u>Armstrong</u> factors in determining that Mary was entitled to an award of permanent alimony. The evidence supports the Chancellor's findings that there was a financial disparity between the parties that existed after the division of the marital estate; therefore, there is no basis for the reversal of the award of periodic alimony.

- C. The Chancellor's Finding of Contempt Related to the Temporary Agreed Order and the Award of Attorney's Fees Was Not Error.
 - 1. The Chancellor correctly found Will in contempt of the Temporary Agreed Order and acted within her discretion in awarding attorney's fees.

The testimony produced at trial clearly supported the Chancellor's finding that Will was in contempt of the Temporary Agreed Order. (T. 64-67, 27-31). In fact, Will testifies as follows:

Q (by Mary's counsel): So, you are in contempt – You admit that you are in contempt of this Court's Orders and did not pay what you were ordered to pay?

A (by Will): I didn't – That's correct.

(T. 31, lines 22-25). This testimony alone supports the finding of contempt.⁶ (R. 86-87; WHWRE Tab 9). Once the contempt was established, the Chancellor acted within her discretion in awarding attorney's fees. <u>Varner</u>, 666 So.2d at 498.

Will argues that the Chancellor erred in failing to consider the factors enumerated in McKee v. McKee, 418 So.2d 764 (Miss. 1982), before awarding attorney's fees in connection with the finding of contempt related to the Temporary Agreed Order. (B. 23-26). However, in contempt actions, the McKee factors are not required, as the attorney's fees are awarded to "make the plaintiff whole." See, e.g., Bounds v. Bounds, 935 So. 2d 407, 412 (Miss. Ct. App.

⁶ Will's trial counsel also acknowledged Will's contempt by stating "We have agreed that he is in contempt as to what all she has asked." (T. 32).

2006). The award of attorney's fees under these circumstances was well within the discretion of the Chancellor and should be affirmed on appeal. <u>Id.</u> (holding that court is reluctant to disturb Chancellor's award of attorney's fees on appeal).

2. The issue of the Court's finding related to Will's contempt of the Decree of Divorce is not properly before the Court on appeal.

Will argues in his brief that the Chancellor erred in finding him in contempt of the Decree of Divorce. (B. 21-26). This issue is not properly before the Court, as the Notice of Appeal referenced only the "Decree of Divorce entered of record in this case on February 9, 2010 and the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration and Other Relief, by Order entered on March 4, 2010." (R. 103-04; MJWWRE Tab 2). The Notice of Appeal does not reference the Order on the Petition for Contempt entered on July 19, 2010 – nor could it have referenced that Order, as the Notice of Appeal was filed on March 5, 2010, which was one month prior to the filing of the Petition for Contempt. (R. 120-23 WHWRE 14).

Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 3(c) states that an appellant must "designate as a whole or in part the judgment or order appealed from." Will complied with this rule in his Notice of Appeal by designating the Divorce Decree and Order denying his Motion for Reconsideration. That Notice of Appeal cannot be read to encompass the Order on the Petition for Contempt entered on July 19, 2010, because that Order is not referenced or incorporated into the Notice. See Eldridge, 813 So.2d at 755. Moreover, Will never filed a separate Notice of Appeal with respect to the July 2010 finding of contempt. In the absence of such a filing, this

⁷ To the extent that Will complains about the award of \$915.81 in attorney's fees flowing from the Motion to Compel that Mary was forced to file, that award was similarly within the sound discretion of the Chancellor and should not be disturbed on appeal. Magee v. Magee, 661 So.2d 1117, 1127 (Miss. 1995). Similar to the fees assessed in connection with the contempt finding, there is no requirement that evidence regarding the inability to pay be presented because the fees were incurred because of Will's failure to comply with discovery requests. See, e.g., Russell v. Russell, 733 So.2d 858, 862-63 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999); Bell, supra, §12.03[1].

matter is not properly before the Court at this time. Will's arguments related to this finding should be dismissed. In the alternative, if the Court deems these arguments to be subject to this appeal, Mary would request additional time to brief the matter.

VI. CONCLUSION

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